FILED
May 28, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 90441-3

(Court of Appeals No. 69401-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT,

Respondent,

v.

EVERARDO BECERRA-AREVALO,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW
OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW



ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

No
(Court of Appeals No. 69401-4-I)
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
CITY OF KENT,
Respondent,
v.
EVERARDO BECERRA-AREVALO,
Petitioner.
PETITION FOR REVIEW OF COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. On RALJ appeal, the superior court reversed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's misdemeanor conviction and remanded for a new trial based upon the impact of various incidents of prosecutorial misconduct and the police officer's improper opinion that the defendant was lying, which was introduced through questions by both counsel. The Court of Appeals reversed the RALJ court after addressing only prosecutorial

misconduct and concluding some of the error was invited by or in reply to the defense.

- a. Was Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to due process violated by the combined impact of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel?
- b. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's trial attorney (1) failed to object when a police officer offered her opinion that his client was lying, (2) asked questions on cross-examination that emphasized and strengthened the officer's opinion of the defendant's credibility and therefore guilt, (3) failed to object when the prosecutor commented on the defendant's right to confront witnesses, and (4) failed to object when the officer related the alleged victim's hearsay account of the incident. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's appellate lawyer did not raise ineffective assistance of counsel on RALJ appeal. Was Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to effective assistance violated by his trial counsel's deficient performance?
- 2. The superior court reversed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's conviction and therefor did not consider two of the issues he raised on appeal. Did the Court of Appeals deny Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to appeal by affirming his conviction and reinstating

his conviction without first remanding the case to superior court for consideration of his remaining appellate issues?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Everardo Becerra-Arevalo worked as the maintenance supervisor for Plemmons Industries, owners of industrial parks and a shopping complex in Kent. CP 69, 164-65, 254, 256. Kelly Fitzpatrick was the office manager for one of Plemmons' tenants, and she would occasionally speak with Mr. Becerra-Arevalo when he was working at her office. CP 67, 69-70. Ms. Fitzpatrick found Mr. Becerra-Arevalo to be polite and friendly, and the two went to lunch one day. CP 71-75.

According to Ms. Fitzpatrick, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo tried to kiss her and touched her breasts and when they were alone in her office on October 27, 2009. CP 76. Ms. Fitzpatrick reported the incident to the police on November 12 because she did not believe her employer had adequately addressed the problem. CP 83-84, 105-05. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo denied touching Mr. Fitzpatrick when interviewed by Kent Police Officer Carrie Nastansky. CP 104, 117.

¹ The report of the Kent Municipal Court Proceedings, entitled Electronic Record Transcription is found at CP 55-354.

1. **Kent Municipal Court.** The City of Kent charged Mr. Becerra-Arevalo with fourth degree assault with sexual motivation, and he was convicted after a jury trial in Kent Municipal Court. CP 4-5, 21. During her testimony, Officer Nastansky testified that he believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying when he denied the incident.

When the city attorney asked Officer Nastansky what Mr.

Becerra-Arevalo told her about the incident, she did not answer the question. Instead, the officer opined that he was very cautious about what he said:

The conversation, from what I remember, was kind of odd because it was – I don't want to say he was trying to hide something. He was very careful about what he said and how he answered questions. He told me he's only there to work. He never talks to females, just that he comes in and says hi, and then he leaves and goes back to work.

CP 110. Over objection the prosecutor was then permitted to ask the officer why she believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was being careful in responding to her questions. CP 110-11.

Q: Why did you have that opinion?

A: Because he was slow to answer as if he were trying to come up with a story in his head versus just if something had happened you would be able to freely tell the story and you wouldn't have to think about it. There would be no like okay, well did this happen and then this. You just say what happened, nothing to hide.

Q: Any did you get that perception here?

A: No. He was - it seemed to me that he was trying to hide something.

CP 111.

On cross-examination, the officer testified that only Mr.

Becerra-Arevalo's answers concerning his relationship with other women at work were slow or guarded. CP 117. On re-direct, the prosecutor asked if the defendant's answers were also guarded concerning Ms. Fitzpatrick's allegations. CP 120. Officer Nastansky replied that not only was Mr. Becerra-Arevalo guarded as to the incident, he also lied to her:

And he lied to me as also. He told me he didn't know why I was there, although he had already been contacted by the property manager, so you would assume he would know why I was there.

Id.

Defense counsel then asked numerous questions concerning the officer's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo, emphasizing her belief that he was lying. CP 122-27. In her answers, the officer related that she was a good judge of when people were lying and reiterated that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo lied to her. CP 125-27.

The prosecutor then asked the officer to again confirm that she believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying to her. CP 128. Over defense objection, Officer Nastansky explained the basis of her opinion:

Because he — just the way that he kind of — when you're asked a certain question and then you answer part of it, but you don't answer the full part of if, you're really kind of choppy on what the answers are, very careful knowing that there's a police officer in front of you, you're very careful to [sic] how you answer it. Like I said before, if he didn't have anything to hide he would have told me, you know, this, this, and this happened and yes, I was in that room at that time, but I never touched her. But he didn't answer it. He didn't go into detail whatsoever. And then I offered a taped statement. . . .

CP 128-29. The prosecutor ended her examination by asking the officer to confirm that her opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo lied about the incident was based upon her "entire investigation and all of the information she obtained" during the investigation. CP 129.

Finally, defense counsel brought out the officer's opinion that guilty people are always guarded when responding to police interrogation, but innocent people generally are not. CP 131.

In closing argument, the city attorney urged the jury to discount Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's testimony based upon Officer Nastansky's expert opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's responses to her questions indicated he was guilty. CP 350-51. In addition, the prosecutor

commented on Ms. Fitzpatrick's discomfort in testifying and "how painful it was for her to look at that defendant." CP 325.

2. King County Superior Court

On appeal to King County Superior Court, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's conviction was reversed and remanded for a new trial by the Honorable Leroy McCullough. CP 459-60 (attached as Appendix B).

The superior court ruled that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo did not receive a fair trial due to the impact upon the jury of the police officer's testimony concerning the defendant's credibility, the testimony elicited by both counsel that the officer believed the defendant was lying when he denied the offense, and the city attorney's comment during closing argument concerning the defendant's constitutional right confront witnesses. Id.

The superior court therefore declined to address other issues Mr. Becerra-Arevalo had raised on appeal. Slip Op. at 2; CP 460.

3. Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals granted the City's motion for discretionary review of the RALJ decision. Order Granting Discretionary Review (5/6/13). The Court of Appeals refused to consider Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's request to address whether he received

ineffective assistance of counsel at both the trial and appellate level if review was granted. <u>Id</u>. at 3 n.1; Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review at 15-19 (2/1/13).

The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court's RALJ decision, holding that the superior court erred by concluding that the prosecutor committed misconduct. Slip Op. at 3. The Court of Appeals ruled that the city attorney did not commit misconduct in eliciting Deputy Nastansky's testimony about Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's credibility. The Court reasoned that the officer's initial testimony was merely a description of the defendant's demeanor, that the officer's testimony that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying was not in response to the prosecutor's question, further testimony abort lying was elicited by defense counsel, and the City's later questions of the officer were invited by defense counsel or were in reply to information he had elicited. Slip Op. at 3-8.

The Court of Appeals also found that the city attorney's closing argument was not a comment on Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's constitutional right to confront his accusers. Slip Op. at 8-9. Finally, the Court of Appeals held that, if the City did commit misconduct, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo could not show that it was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it

could not have been cured by appropriate instructions to the jury. Slip Op. at 9-13.

The Court of Appeals reversed the RALJ decision and reinstated the municipal court's judgment and sentence. Slip Op. at 14. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo seeks review in this Court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals reversal of the superior court decision is based upon a misunderstanding of the superior court's decision. This Court should accept review to determine if Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was denied a fair trial based upon cumulative error when both his counsel and the city attorney elicited improper testimony about his credibility and guilt.

The Court of Appeals reviewed Judge McCullough's RALJ decision as if the ruling was based only upon prosecutorial misconduct. This is incorrect. The superior court's reversal of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's misdemeanor conviction was based upon several errors that combined to deny him a fair trial: the officer's improper comments on the credibility of the defendant, including the discussion of lying elicited by both counsel, and the prosecutor's comment on the defendant's right to be present and confront the witnesses. CP 459-60. The decision reads:

[T]he lower court erred for the following reasons: the <u>cumulative effect</u> of the combination of the police officer's comment on the credibility of the defendant and the emphasis <u>by both counsel</u> on lying during the officer's testimony with the comment on the defendant's presence during the witness's testimony when he had a constitutional right to be there require reversal and remand for retrial.

CP 460-61.

The court's ruling was based on the questioning of the police officer "by both counsel" to elicit testimony that the defendant was lying. It also references the officer's improper testimony rather than the prosecutor's efforts to elicit that testimony. Thus, the superior court's reversal is based upon cumulative error by both counsel that denied Mr. Becerra-s Arevalo his due process right to fair trial. The Court of Appeals improperly reversed the superior court by only reviewing prosecutorial misconduct.

The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions provide that a criminal defendant receive a fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 22. Reversal may be required due to the cumulative effects of trial court errors, even if each error examined on its own would otherwise be considered harmless. State v. Coe. 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). Thus, in Alexander, the Court of Appeals ordered a new trial because (1) a counselor impermissibly

suggested the victim's story was consistent and truthful, (2) the prosecutor impermissibly elicited the defendant's identity from the victim's mother, and (3) the prosecutor repeatedly attempted to introduce inadmissible testimony at trial and in closing. State v.

Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 158, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992). And in Coe, this Court reversed four rape convictions based upon numerous evidentiary errors and a violation of discovery rules by the prosecutor.

Coe, 101 Wn.2d at 774-86, 788-89.

In the present case, both counsel elicited testimony concerning Officer Nastansky's view of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's credibility. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's trial attorney did not object when Officer Nastansky offered her opinion of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's credibility. CP 110-11, 120, 128-29. His cross-examination only emphasized her opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying. CP 109-10, 124-25, 131. Defense counsel also failed to object when the police officer related hearsay testimony of her conversations with Ms. Fitzpatrick and others. CP 106-07, 109, 114. And he did not object when the prosecutor commented upon the defendant's right to confront witnesses. CP 325-26.

Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's appellate attorney worked in the same law firm as trial counsel, and she did not argue on appeal that defense counsel was ineffective. In the Court of Appeals, however, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's new counsel asked that the Court of Appeals consider the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel if it granted review. Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review at 15-19. The Court of Appeals declined to do so. Order Granting Discretionary Review at 3 n.1. Had the Court of Appeals considered that argument, however, it would have engaged in review of all of the reasons for the RALJ court's reversal of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's conviction.

A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 96-97, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). Counsel's critical role in the adversarial system protects the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684-85, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). The right to counsel therefore necessarily includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 377, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986); A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 98.

The right to effective assistance of counsel applies to appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucy, 469 U.S. 387, 396, 105 S. Ct. 830, 836, 83 L. Ed.2d 821 (1985); see In re Pers. Restraint of Morris, 176 Wn.2d 157, 166, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012).

This Court has held that a defendant's constitutional right to a jury trial is violated if a witness expresses her opinion about the defendant's guilt or credibility. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 826-27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I §§ 21, 22. Deputy Nastansky's testimony that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo lied when he denied committing the crime directly told the jury that the officer believed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was guilty.

Competent counsel would have immediately objected to this type of testimony and would not have posed cross-examination questions that emboldened the city attorney to introduce even more damaging opinion testimony. Even if trial counsel's decision to emphasize the officer's opinion that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying could be considered tactical, it was not a reasonable tactical decision and may be attacked on appeal. See State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33-34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011); State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130,

101 P.3d 80 (2004). "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000).

Additionally, defense counsel did not object when the police officer related her hearsay conversations with Ms. Fitzpatrick, thus bolstering Ms. Fitzpatrick's testimony, and offered her opinion that Ms. Fitzpatrick was still upset from the incident that allegedly occurred over two weeks earlier. CP 106-08. He also did not objected with Officer Nastansky reported that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo had quit his job and was planning to leave the country. CP 109. No exception to the hearsay rule permits Officer Nastansky's testimony concerning what Ms. Fitzpatrick told her about the incident or what she learned about defendant from the property manager. ER 802, 803, 804(b). Criminal defense attorneys are expected to have a basic understanding of the hearsay rule and to pose objections on that basis.

The RALJ court held that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's right to a fair trial was prejudiced when both the city attorney and defense counsel elicited a police officer's opinion on his credibility, including her belief that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was lying when he denied committing the

crime – a direct opinion that he was guilty. The Court of Appeals, however, only addressed the issue of prosecutorial misconduct. This Court should accept review so that Mr. Becerra-Arevalo so that the denial of his constitutional rights to due process and effective assistance of counsel are not denied. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. The Court of Appeals failed to remand Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's case to the superior court for consideration of issues not addressed by the RALJ court in light of the reversal on other grounds.

When the superior court reversed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's conviction, it did not consider one of the issues he raised on appeal. CP 460. The Court of Appeals recognized this, but did not remand to the superior court for consideration of the remaining issue. Slip Op. at 2, 14. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals violated Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's right to appeal.

Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was convicted of a misdemeanor, and he therefore had the right to appeal to superior court. Const. art. I § 22; City of Seattle v. Helser, 98 Wn.2d 73, 85, 653 P.2d 631 (1982); RCW 3.02.020. Having reversed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's appeal on different grounds, the superior court acted reasonably in not deciding other issues raised on appeal. When the Court of Appeals accepted

discretionary review and then reversed the RALJ court, however, it left those issues unaddressed.

This Court can remedy the violation of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's right to appeal. This Court should accept review and order the Court of Appeals to remand Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's case to King County Superior Court for consideration of his remaining appellate issues.

RAP 13.4(b)(3).

F. CONCLUSION

Everardo Becerra-Arevalo asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision reversing the RALJ court and reinstating his misdemeanor conviction.