I. RELIEF REQUESTED. 

The unpublished appellate decision of which the Petitioner, Mr. 

Everardo Becerra-Arevalo, seeks review is in accord with existing case 

law, and frankly, unremarkable. The Washington Comi of Appeals, 

Division I, correctly decided that no prosecutorial misconduct occurred, 

that Mr. Becena-Arevalo's trial counsel opened the door to the 

questioning of which he took issue with in his appeal, that the prosecutor's 

redirect of the officer was in direct and petiinent response to defense 

counsel's cross examination, that defense counsel caused any potential 

prejudice, and regardless, that any resulting prejudice was neutralized by

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

In December 2011, after a two-day jury trial, Mr. Everardo 

Becel1'a-Arevalo was convicted in the Kent Municipal Court of Assault in 



the 4th Degree with Sexual Motivation. CP 56, 353. At trial, the victim, 

Kelly Fitzpatrick, testified that on October 27, 2009, Mr. BeceiTa-Arevalo 

came up behind her, reached underneath her, and put both his hands on her 

breasts. CP 75-76. He then bent down and tried to kiss her, but she turned 

her head and he kissed her cheek. CP 76, 81. When efforts to repmt the 

assault to her supervisor failed to bring about responsive action, Ms. 

Fitzpatrick repmted the assault to police. CP 82-84. 

During trial, former Kent Police Officer Carrie Nastanskyl testified 

on direct that her conversation with Mr. BeceiTa-Arevalo about Ms. 

Fitzpatrick's allegations "was kind of odd because it was-1 don't want to 

say he was trying to hide something. He was very careful about what he 

said and how he answered the questions." CP 110. Officer Nastansky 

fulther described what it was about Mr. Becerra-Arevalo that led her to 

believe he was being careful-" he was slow to answer as if he were trying 

to come up with a story in his head versus just if something had happened 

you would be able to freely tell the story and you wouldn't have to think 

about it .... " CP 111. 

1 At the time of trial, the office1· was employed as a Deputy with the Thurston County 
Sheriff's Office. CP 103-104. 
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On cross, Mr. Becen:a-Arevalo's counsel asked Officer Nastansky 

if Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was only "guarded"2 with respect to questions 

about his relationships with women at work. CP 117. On re-direct, the 

prosecutor asked Officer Nastansky if Mr. Becerra-Arevalo was guarded 

in other respects, to which Officer Nastansky stated: 

Yes he was. And he lied to me also. He told me he didn't 
know why I was there, although he had already been 
contacted by the prope1ty manager, so you would assume 
he would know why I was there. 

CP 119-120. No objection was· made, and the prosecutor immediately 

moved on. CP 119-120. 

On re-cross, however, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's counsel questioned 

Officer Nastansky extensively concerning Mr. Becen-a-Arevalo's apparent 

"lie" to her.3 Through leading questions to Officer Nastansky, Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo's counsel drew the conclusions that "just the people that 

2 A term the officer had not previously used. 

-
3 Q: You said he lied to you? That's a pretty bold statement by an officer, 

wouldn't you agree? (CP 122, line 1-2) 
Q: And you said that the reason you thought it was a lie was because this other 

person had talked to him previously? (CP 122, line 8-9) 
Q: You go from the perspective that someone's guilty of a crime. What about 

somebody that doesn't think they've committed a crime? (CP 122, line 21-
22) 

Q: You classifY this as a lie. You specifically said it was a lie. (CP 124, line 14) 
Q: So what about that statement is a lie? (CP 124, line 16). 
Q: I'm asking about that statement specifically, not your interactions. (CP 124, 

line 18) 
Q: If you were accused of a crime-most people that you deal with, when you 

accuse them of a crime, are they guarded? (CP 125, line 9-1 0) 
Q: So you're saying just the people that are guilty are guarded? (CP 125, line 

12) 
Q: And that's the statement that you're saying is a lie? (CP 126, line 10) 
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are guilty are guarded," "people that are guarded are guilty," "and people 

that are not guilty but accused of a crime are not guarded." CP 125, line 

12; CP 131, lines 17-21. In the City's second re-direct, and based on Ml·. 

Becena-Arevalo significantly opening the door, the prosecutor asked 

Officer Nastansky the basis for her opinion that was elicited by defense 

counsel. CP 128, line 8. 

In their instructions, the jurors were provided with WPIC 1.02, 

which provided that the jmy was the sole judge of the credibility of each 

witness. CP 8. During closing, the prosecutor referred to this instruction 

multiple times and the guidance it provided that the jury, and they alone, 

were the sole judges of each witness's credibility. CP 320, 321, 325. The 

prosecutor discussed with the jury those things included in their 

instructions that they may consider when assessing credibility, including a 

witness's demeanor while testifying. CP 325-326. In closing, the 

prosecutor asked the jury to ask themselves if they believed, based on Ms. 

Fitzpatrick's demeanor when she testified, that she was making up the 

allegations, and to consider what motive, bias, or prejudice Ms. 

Fitzpatrick would have to fabricate her claims. CP 326-327. 

Mr. Becena-Arevalo timely appealed his conviction alleging: (1) 

prosecutorial misconduct based on: improper opinion testimony, improper 

cross-examination and impeachment, improper comment on his 
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constitutional right to confront witnesses; (2) admission of improper 

opinion evidence; and (3) admission of evidence on rebuttal that did not 

rebut any new evidence presented by the defense. CP 1, 30-54. The 

RALJ court overtumed Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's conviction on the basis of 

his first claim for appeal (prosecutorial misconduct) and remanded the 

case for retrial. Appendix B and CP 459-460. Having made that decision, 

the RALJ court never reached his second4 and third5 claims. CP 30-31, 

49, 50; Appendix B; CP 459-460. 

The City timely moved for discretionary review before the Court 

of Appeals. Appendix C. After granting discretionary review, the Court 

of Appeals overturned the RALJ court, and reinstated Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo's conviction. Appendix D, Appendix A. The Court of Appeals 

held that the prosecutor did not commit misconduct because the officer's 

testimony elicited on direct regarding the defendant being "careful" was 

not a direct comment on Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's guilt, was based on the 

officer's observations, and because the officer's later opinion testimony 

was first elicited by defense counsel on cross, the prosecutor's redirect 

was invited by the defense and not improper given the sequence of 

testimony. Appendix A at 4-8. Additionally, the Com1 of Appeals held 

that no prosecutorial misconduct occurred during closing argument as the 

4 Claim for improper opinion testimony. CP at 49-50. 
s Claim for trial court's abuse of discretion in allowing City's rebuttal case. CP at 50-53. 
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prosecutor's isolated comment, when viewed in the context of her entire 

closing argument, was not a comment on Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's 

constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him, but pertained to 

the jury's consideration of Ms. Fitzpatrick's demeanor in assessing her 

motive and credibility. Appendix A at 8-9. Further, even if the Comt of 

Appeals assumed the prosecutor's comments were improper, it held Mr. 

Becen·a-Arevalo could not demonstrate that prejudice occurred given 

defense counsel's tactics and the testimony of others, apart fi·om the 

officer, who undermined and impeached Mr. Becena-Arevalo's courtroom 

testimony. Appendix A at 10-12. Although the Comt of Appeals accepted 

review of Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's claim of improper opinion testimony, it 

declined to decide that issue, having reversed the RALJ court on the 

prosecutorial misconduct issue. Appendix D at 8, Appendix A at 13, 

Appendix B. 

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's Petition for Review on Basis of 
Ineffective Assistance of Counsel is Time-Barnd. 

While an ineffective assistance of counsel claim may be raised for 

the first time on appeal, that claim must still be filed within the appeal 

deadlines set by RALJ 2.5 and RAP 5.2. No extraordinary circumstance 

existed in accordance with RALJ 10.3 or RAP 18.8, and no extension was 
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sought before either the RALJ court or the Court of Appeals as required 

by those rules to preserve the claim. 

An appeal from a Comt of Limited Jurisdiction must be filed 

within 30 days after entty of a final decision. RALJ 2.5(a). Here, the Kent 

Municipal Court entered its judgment on Febmary 13, 2011, and the 

appeal period ran on March 15, 2011, over three vem·s ago. No Notice of 

Appeal alleging ineffective assistance of counsel was filed with the RALJ 

court, and no extension was sought under RALJ 10.3. CP 1-466. A 

discretionary appeal from the RALJ court must be filed within 30 days 

after the act the party wants reviewed. RAP 5.2(b). In this case, the RALJ 

Decision was entered on September 7, 2012, and the appeal period ran on 

October 7, 2012, neaJ'/v two years llgo. No Notice of Appeal or Notice of 

Discretionary Review alleging ineffective assistance of RALJ appellate 

counsel was filed with the Com1 of Appeals, and no extension was sought 

under RAP 18.8. CP 1-466. 

Mr. Becerra-Arevalo first attempted to raise his ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim, for both his trial and RALJ appellate counsel, 

before the Court of Appeals in his Answer to the City of Kent's Motion 

for Discretionary Review, filed on February 1, 2013, long after the appeal 

period ran for both those claims. Appendix Eat 15-19. The Comt of 

Appeals properly denied Mr. BecetTa-Arevalo's ineffective assistance of 
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counsel claims on May 6, 2013, holding that those claims were untimely, 

were not raised before the RALJ comt, and would not be considered for 

the first time on discretionary review from the RALJ appeal. Appendix D 

at 3, footnote 1. No Motion for Reconsideration was filed before the 

Comt of Appeals under RAP 12.4, and no interlocutory review was sought 

under RAP 13.5(a). This claim is untimely, and review should be denied. 

B. The RALJ Court did not Include Ineffective Assistance 
of Trial Counsel as a Basis for its Decision, and the 
Court of Appeals Correctly Decided the Issue. 

There is no evidence the Court of Appeals misunderstood or 

incorrectly interpreted the RALJ court's Order on RALJ Appeal as argued 

by Mr. BecelTa-Arevalo. Petition for Review at 9-11. Having failed 

before the Comt of Appeals, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo now re-crafts his 

ineffective assistance of counsel argument and claims, for the fust time in 

his Petition for Review, that ineffective assistance of counsel was a basis 

upon which the RALJ comt reversed his conviction. Jd. This position 

was never assetted in either of the lower appellate comts. Appendix E, 

Appendix F. This claim is without merit, without suppott in the record, 

and should be stricken.6 

Here, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo claims that the RALJ comt's statement 

in its "Order on RALJ Appeal" that it: 

6 Portions of a briefthat contain factual material not submitted to or considered by the 
trial court should be stricken. Burrell v. State, 137 Wn.2d 918, 932, 976 P.2d 113 (1999). 
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DOES HEREBY HOLD AS FOLLOWS: the lower comt 
erred for the following reasons: the cumulative effect of 
the combination of the police officer's comment on the 
credibility of the defendant and the emphasis by both 
counsel on lying during the officer's testimony with the 
comment on the defendant's presence during the witness's 
testimony when he had a constitutional right to be there 
require reversal and remand for retrial. ... 

means that the RALJ court necessarily considered that Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo's tr·ial counsel was ineffective. Petition for Review at 10. An 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim was not raised by Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo in his Notice of Appeal to the RALJ comt, dated December 30, 

2011; or in his Brief before the RALJ court, dated June 25, 2012. CP 1, 

30-54. Nor was this position argued before the RALJ comt, or included in 

the RALJ's court's oral decision on September 7, 2012. Appendix F. 

While an oral decision may not be used to contradict an unambiguous 

Wiitten finding, it may be consulted to determine a court's basis for a 

conclusion of law if the written order does not provide an explanation. 

See, Schmechel v. Ron Mitchell Cmp., 67 Wn.2d 194, 197, 406 P.2d 962 

(1965), and Lang v. Haugan, 136 Wn. App. 708, 716, 150 P.3d 622 

(2007). Here, Mr. Becerra-Arevalo argues a position that is not expressly 

apparent on the RALJ comt' s written order. Appendix B, Petition for 

Review at 9-11. When the transcript of the RALJ hearing is consulted, it 

is clear that no reference is made to any ineffective assistance of counsel 
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claim-by either party or by the RALJ court. Appendix F. In fact, Mr. 

Becerra-Arevalo's appellate counsel, Ms. Andrea Beall7
, commented 

several times that the substantial cross examination by defense counsel of 

the police officer concerning Mr. BecetTa-Arevalo's "lie" was a deliberate 

trial tactic made jn an effm1 to discredit the officer. Appendix F at 7, 8, 

28. There is no basis in the record to support Mr. Becerra-Arevalo's claim 

that his ineffective assistance of counsel claim was timely raised before 

the RALJ court or the Court of Appeals, or was a basis for the RALJ 

court's decision. As such, review should be denied. 

The Cout1 of Appeals also correctly decided the issues before it 

and reversal was warranted under the law. In its oral decision, the RALJ 

com1 expressed that no individual allegation raised by Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo would have warranted reversal and remand. However, the RALJ 

court expressed that the combination of issues alleged under Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo's first claim of appeal for prosecutorial misconduct-including 

the prosecutor's question to the officer about the "lie," regardless of the 

questions asked by defense counsel; the officer's answers in response to 

the prosecutor's questions; and the prosecutor's comment in closing 

argument about the victim's demeanor while testifying and Mr. Becerra-

Arevalo's presence-combined to watTant reversal and remand. 

7 Ms. Beall was formerly a member of Stewart, MacNichols & Harmell. However, she 
left that finn to serve as Presiding Judge for the Puyallup Municipal Court. 
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Appendix F at 30-33, Appendix B. Because the RALJ court never reached 

Mr. Becena-Arevalo's second and third claims for appeal, the sole basis 

upon which the RALJ comi reversed the conviction was on what it 

believed was the cumulative effect of alleged prosecutorial misconduct. 

Appendix B at 2. Due to the Court of Appeals finding no prosecutorial 

misconduct, and that defense counsel opened the door to the officer's